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Chapter Illustrations


The illustrations at the beginning of each chapter and the captions below originate from the Liber Nauticus by Dominic and John Thomas Serres, first published in 1805:


‘The numerous applications for rudiments to acquire a knowledge of the Drawing of shipping or ships, will, I should hope, be sufficient excuse for introducing this work to the notice of the public.’




CHAPTER ONE: ‘Represents a ship of the line preparing to sail, with the men on the yards unfurling the sails.’


CHAPTER TWO: ‘Capsterns, used for heaving up the cables, or to wind-up any weighty body such as masts, artillery, &c.’


CHAPTER THREE: ‘A ship of the line going before the wind, with scudding sails set.’


CHAPTER FOUR: ‘Rope made into what is called a coil.’


CHAPTER FIVE: ‘A ship of the line close-hauled.’


CHAPTER SIX: ‘The stern of a frigate. The stern of a ship is terminated by the taffarel above, and by the counters below; it is limited on the sides by the quarter pieces, and the intermediate space comprises the galleries and windows of the cabins.’


CHAPTER SEVEN: ‘A frigate taken all aback. Aback is the situation of the sails when their surfaces are flatted against the mast by the force of the wind.’


CHAPTER EIGHT: ‘A cutlass and hatchet for boarding.’


CHAPTER NINE: ‘A frigate going about. About means the situation of a ship immediately after she has tacked, or changed her course by going about, and standing on the other tack.’


CHAPTER TEN: ‘A gun, carriage and tackle.’


CHAPTER ELEVEN: ‘Is a frigate lying-to, or lying-by, which means the situation of a ship when she is retarded in her course, by arranging the sails in such a manner as to counteract each other with nearly an equal effort, and render the ship almost immoveable with respect to her progressive motion or headway.’


CHAPTER TWELVE: ‘Is called a grapple.’


CHAPTER THIRTEEN: ‘The representation of a ship in stays, in the manoeuvre of tacking, at the moment the word is given to rise tacks and sheets.’


CHAPTER FOURTEEN: ‘Cannister shot, chain-shot and bar-shot.’


CHAPTER FIFTEEN: ‘A ship casting. Casting, in navigation, is the motion of falling off, so as to bring the direction of the wind on either side of the ship, after it has blown for some time right a-head.’


CHAPTER SIXTEEN: ‘Represents an anchor.’


CHAPTER SEVENTEEN: ‘Is a ship scudding under her foresail. The principal hazards to scudding are difficulty of steering, while for want of sea room she is in danger of being wrecked on a lea shore, a circumstance too dreadful and too well understood to require explanation.’


CHAPTER EIGHTEEN: ‘Are a sort of close casks, called buoys, which are made fast by a rope to the anchor, to determine the place where the anchor is situated. Those in the form of a cone are generally used to point out dangerous banks and shallows.’


CHAPTER NINETEEN: ‘Is a ship lying to under try-sail and storm stay-sail. Trying is the situation in which a ship lies nearly in the trough or hollow of the sea in tempest, particularly when it blows contrary to her course.’


CHAPTER TWENTY: ‘An anchor.’


CHAPTER TWENTY-ONE: ‘Is a ship under a jury fore-mast. A jury fore-mast is a temporary or occasional mast erected in a ship to supply the place of one which has been carried away by a tempest, in battle, or by the labouring of a ship in turbulent sea.’


CHAPTER TWENTY-TWO: ‘Represents a cleat.’


CHAPTER TWENTY-THREE: ‘Represents a ship veering.’


CHAPTER TWENTY-FOUR: ‘Crest from author’s Address To The Amateurs of Marine Drawing.’
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British and Combined Fleets
October 1805


British Fleet




Weather Division


Victory Vice Admiral Horatio, Viscount Nelson; Captain Thomas Hardy


Téméraire Captain Eliab Harvey


Neptune Captain Thomas Fremantle


Leviathan Captain Henry Bayntun


Conqueror Captain Israel Pellew


Agamemnon Captain Sir Edward Berry


Britannia Rear Admiral William Carnegie, Earl of Northesk; Captain Charles Bullen


Africa Captain Henry Digby


Ajax Lieutenant John Pilfold (in absence of Captain William Brown)


Orion Captain Edward Codrington


Minotaur Captain Charles Mansfield


Spartiate Captain Sir Francis Laforey


Lee Division


Royal Sovereign Vice Admiral Cuthbert Collingwood; Captain Edward Rotheram


Belleisle Captain William Hargood


Mars Captain George Duff


Tonnant Captain Charles Tyler


Bellerophon Captain John Cooke


Colossus Captain James Morris


Achille Captain Richard King


Revenge Captain Robert Moorsom


Defiance Captain Philip Durham


Dreadnought Captain John Conn


Swiftsure Captain William Rutherford


Polyphemus Captain Robert Redmill


Defence Captain George Hope


Thunderer Lieutenant John Stockham (in absence of Captain William Lechmere)


Prince Captain Richard Grindall


Frigates and Smaller Vessels


Euryalus Captain Henry Blackwood


Naiad Captain Thomas Dundas


Phoebe Captain Thomas Capel


Sirius Captain William Prowse


Pickle Lieutenant John Lapenotière


Entreprenante Lieutenant Robert Young





The Combined Fleet




Rearguard


Neptuno Commodore Cayetano Valdés


Scipion Captain Charles Bérenger


Intrépide Captain Louis Infernet


Formidable Rear Admiral Pierre Dumanoir; Captain Jean-Marie Letellier


Mont-Blanc Captain Guillaume Lavillegris


Duguay-Trouin Captain Claude Touffet


Rayo Commodore Enrique Macdonnell


San Francisco de Asís Captain Luis Flores


Centre


San Agustín Commodore Felipe Cajigal


Héros Captain Jean-Baptiste Poulain


Santísima Trinidad Rear Admiral Báltasar de Cisneros; Commodore Xavier de Uriarte


Bucentaure Vice Admiral Pierre Villeneuve; Captain Jean-Jacques Magendie


Neptune Captain Esprit-Tranquille Maistral


San Leandro Captain José Quevedo


Redoutable Captain Jean-Jacques Lucas


Vanguard


San Justo Captain Miguel Gastón


Indomptable Captain Jean-Joseph Hubert


Santa Ana Vice Admiral Ignacio de Álava; Captain José Gardoquí


Fougueux Captain Louis-Alexis Baudouin


Monarca Captain Teódoro de Argumosa


Pluton Commodore Julien Cosmao-Kerjulien


Squadron of Observation


Algésiras Rear Admiral Charles Magon; Commander Laurent Le Tourneur (acting captain)


Bahama Commodore Dionisio Alcalá Galiano


Aigle Captain Pierre Gourrège


Montañés Captain Francisco Alcedo


Swiftsure Captain Charles-Eusèbe L’Hospitalier-Villemadrin


Argonaute Captain Jacques Epron


Argonauta Captain Antonio Pareja


San Ildefonso Commodore José de Vargas


Achille Captain Louis Deniéport


Principe de Asturias Admiral Federico Gravina; Commodore Rafael de Hore


Berwick Jean Filhol-Camas


San Juan Nepomuceno Commodore Cosme de Churruca


Frigates and Brigs


Rhin Captain Michel Chesneau


Hortense Captain Louis La Marre La Meillerie


Cornélie Captain Jules-François de Martinenq


Thémis Captain Nicolas Jugan


Hermione Commander Jean-Michel Mahé


Furet Lieutenant Pierre Demay


Argus Lieutenant Yves-François Taillard








Authors’ Note


To avoid confusion the ranks of French and Spanish officers have been translated to the nearest British equivalent. Accordingly, the Spanish brigadier or French chef de division has become commodore. There was no direct British equivalent for the French enseigne or Spanish alférez, so we have used the term sub-lieutenant. Guardias Marinas, gardes de la marine and aspirants have all been translated as midshipmen. We have avoided continuous reiteration of grades of admiral. Vice Admiral Nelson is usually referred to for convenience as Admiral Nelson. The only full admiral in either fleet was Gravina.


We have followed the practice of their respective biographers in using the shortened forms Latouche and Churruca for Louis-René Levassor, comte de Latouche-Tréville and Don Cosme Damián de Churruca y Elorza. Spanish names have been simplified: the Spanish historian Pelayo Alcalá Galiano contracted the name of his forebear Dionisio Alcalá Galiano to Galiano and we have imitated his usage for Dionisio and his son Antonio. After the revolution French officers generally dropped all signs of aristocracy in their names so that Pierre-Charles de Villeneuve became Villeneuve and Auguste-Marie Gicquel des Touches was Gicquel.


Where commonly understood British versions of foreign place names exist we have used them. So Cádiz is Cadiz and La Coruña is Corunna. Manuscripts have been transcribed exactly, as far as possible, without use of sic. Within quotations the names of ships have been italicised only where they were italicised in the source.





1


The Miradors of Cadiz
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Cadiz stands on an island, just off the end of a long, narrow spit of land, surrounded by the Atlantic. From the Tavira Tower, the tallest mirador in the city, you can just see where the battle took place. Looking to the south, long, sandy beaches stretch down towards Cape Trafalgar. The ships fought on the horizon, nearer to Cape Roche than Trafalgar itself, a few miles from the shore. In that direction you can watch the waves breaking on the rocky shoals that still put mariners on their guard. Behind you, to the north and east, is the wide expanse of sparkling, sheltered water in Cadiz Bay, while to the south-east the main navigable channel sweeps round past the salt pans of the marshy Isla de León (still Spain’s principal naval base) to the dockyard of La Carraca where the King of Spain’s ships were built and repaired.


On a sunny day – and most days here are sunny – the streets of the old town radiate in black lines of deep shadow from around the base of the Tower. They have changed little since 1805: they are too narrow to take much traffic so most people walk, as they did then. The exception is the Alameda, a broad avenue overlooking the entrance to the bay. There, the elegant ladies of Cadiz still seek the shade of the exotic American trees planted along its sides. At its western end stands the glorious baroque Iglesia del Carmen where the officers of the Combined Fleet heard mass before putting to sea. From the windows of the Parador Hotel Atlantico you can watch the sun set over the fort and lighthouse of San Sebastian, look out over the stretch of water that was patrolled by Admiral Collingwood’s blockading squadron and see the rocks, a few hundred yards away, that ripped the bottom out of Admiral Villeneuve’s flagship during the great storm that followed the battle.


In 1805 Cadiz was the most elegant and opulent city in Spain, less grand than haughty Madrid, with its court and its aristocracy, but far more cosmopolitan. Other Spanish towns were painted white but none shone like Cadiz where the houses were faced in white marble. One writer compared it to ‘a great alabaster ship floating in the midst of the seas’. The railings of the many balconies and the grilles over ground-floor windows were painted sea green. Great wooden doors, studded with brass, opened on to blue-tiled patios, luxuriant with tropical plants. Rooms were furnished with mahogany, gilt and fine glass, and with fashionable luxuries imported from France, Italy and England. The graceful façades of its harmonious, four-storey buildings concealed the roofs so that the whiteness rose into the blue sky, interrupted only by the tiled steeples and cupolas of the churches. And above all this floated the 160 miradors from which the merchants of Cadiz scoured the horizon for their homeward-bound vessels. The Tavira was the official watchtower and from here, during the summer of 1805, the city’s watchmen focused their long brass telescopes on the ships of the Royal Navy.
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In his fifty-seven years Vice Admiral Cuthbert Collingwood had travelled widely, and his informed opinion was that warm and windy Cadiz had ‘the advantage of the finest climate in the world’. At seven in the morning on Tuesday 20 August 1805 he was on board his flagship Dreadnought, cruising as usual a few miles off Cadiz with his dog, Bounce, at his side. Collingwood only had three battleships, or ships-of-the-line, as they were known, because the main Spanish fleet was not in Cadiz. One, the Colossus, was currently inspecting a brig flying the Swedish flag, as many Spanish merchants did when trying to run his blockade.


Through his telescope, the admiral fixed his eye briefly on the harbour and made a routine count of the eight tall masts to be seen there. Four other ships were stationed near the entrance to the bay. Collingwood knew Cadiz well. He had blockaded it before in wartime and had visited it during peace. On the way home from the Mediterranean British warship often paused there to pick up a cargo of silver coins for safe carriage to England. The commission offered a valuable supplementary income for British captains. There were few such perks on blockade duty.


Self-sacrifice and duty were the watchwords of the modern navy, immensely powerful yet overstretched, so crammed with ambitious talent that it no longer promised the highroad from ability to fortune as it had fifty years earlier. Success could still bring affluence, though. Collingwood was the son of a failed Newcastle merchant but, thanks to his flourishing naval career, he had married the Lord Mayor’s daughter in 1791. Since then his time with Sarah had been brief. Long years spent watching the French fleet in Brest had led him to teach his captains to be as self-denyingly stoic and disciplined as he was. He was cultured and sensitive, with a dry sense of humour. At moments his letters are wickedly funny. But he was stern: he hated drunkenness and distrusted novels, especially for girls, and this was an issue close to his heart since his eldest daughter, also Sarah, had just turned thirteen. He wanted very much to go home.


As a ship’s captain he was a compassionate humanitarian, fair-minded, reluctant to flog. He loved his ships’ companies, and they regarded him with affectionate respect. But the views of his brother officers were mixed. Many never penetrated his reserve. One junior later wrote that he considered him ‘a selfish old bear. That he was a brave, stubborn, persevering and determined officer everyone acknowledged, but he had few, if any, friends and no admirers. In body and mind he was iron, and very cold iron.’


Whatever his faults, Collingwood was undoubtedly intelligent and cool-headed, and these qualities came to the fore when, later on the morning of 20 August, unfamiliar sails were sighted on the horizon – first six, then twenty-six, then thirty-six. Collingwood was not expecting friends: there was only one explanation for such a large force. This was the French and Spanish Combined Fleet, known to be at sea under the command of Vice Admiral Pierre Villeneuve. The Royal Navy had been chasing these ships for six months, and although Collingwood had been warned that they had left Ferrol in northern Spain he had not expected them to come south. Yet, undeniably, they were now at Cadiz, and fast approaching Collingwood’s own tiny squadron. His five ships – Dreadnought, Colossus and Achille, with the Niger frigate and the Thunder bomb-vessel in attendance – were in great danger, caught half-way between the leading vessels of the Combined Fleet and the smaller Spanish squadron in Cadiz Bay.


Dreadnought’s officers swept Cadiz with their telescopes again. As yet there was no activity. Nor were Villeneuve’s ships crowding on sail. They might not have realised that Collingwood’s ships were British. Collingwood’s chief problem was that the slow Thunder was nearest to the oncoming enemy, so he had to buy time to help it get away. By moving away very slowly, as if there was no danger, he tried to deceive the enemy long enough for Thunder to escape. The ruse worked for two hours, but then a squadron broke away from the Combined Fleet and the chase was on. Thunder would have been caught if her captain had not had the wit to hide in the shallow water of the Trafalgar shoals where the enemy’s larger vessels dared not follow. Collingwood’s other four ships had enough of a lead to beat their pursuers to the Strait of Gibraltar. With his retreat into the Mediterranean secure, Collingwood sent back his fastest ship, Colossus, to reconnoitre. When some ships made a push at her, Collingwood tacked to support her. The French and Spanish withdrew to Cadiz.


Next day a frigate arrived to warn Collingwood that Villeneuve was coming. He sent it to London with the news that the Frenchman was already in Cadiz.
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A caricature by George Woodward, published early in 1805, summed up Spain’s dilemma succinctly. Spanish Comfort depicted Napoleon Bonaparte threatening a Spaniard and exclaiming, ‘By my imperial dignity, I’ll thrash you if you don’t fight’, while a belligerent John Bull dressed as a sailor retorted, ‘And by my blue jacket and trousers I’ll drub you if you do.’ Spain was sandwiched between bullies, afraid of both. Her land border made her vulnerable to Napoleon’s army, the largest in the world, while her sea trade lay at the mercy of the mighty Royal Navy. Cadiz felt these pressures more than any other city in Spain.


The population was about 72,000, of which more than one in ten were foreigners, selling goods to South America and buying Andalucían and American products to send home. Three-quarters of all trade with Spain’s enormous empire passed through this port. It was to Cadiz that Spanish treasure fleets had always come, and nearly all New World silver was still landed there. Every European country trading with Asia had an office in the city, because Oriental trade was done with hard cash and silver money was obtained from Cadiz. There were close links with France, which exported cloth and other manufactured goods through Cadiz to Latin America, but Great Britain was by far Spain’s largest national export market.


London’s representative in Cadiz was James Duff, a sherry merchant, who had lived in Andalucía so long that even Englishmen knew him as Don Diego Duff. He had moved to Spain in 1765 when he was twenty-nine. Now, still unmarried, he was growing old, but his mind was still acute. His business was big – the British bought more wine from Spain than they bought from France – and his London agent was George Sandeman, whose company still thrives. Duff had presided over the ups and downs of Britain’s relationship with Spain, and tried to smooth the ride.


Between wars, invasions and blockades, Spain was trying to modernise and exploit her South American provinces. The silver mines of New Spain, Peru and La Plata were restored, and Cuba had become a rival to the British and French sugar islands in the Caribbean. To defend these possessions and guard the route home, Spain had invested heavily in her navy; by 1790 she possessed as many warships as France. The most promising young officers were instructed in advanced mathematics, astronomy, navigation and cartography as the Armada Española, the Spanish navy, led an effort to discover, map and publish the resources of the Empire.


Dionisio Alcalá Galiano was one of the heroes of Spain’s new scientific navy, a gifted mathematician, a renowned navigator and an experienced explorer. He was anglophile through science, not politics, believing British mathematicians superior to French. He admired the Royal Navy for its professionalism and even spoke a little English. Knowledge of the English language was then rare in Europe (merchants or sea officers from different nations generally communicated in French) and he was proud of his skill.


Galiano helped to survey the coast of the Iberian peninsula for the first accurate Atlas Maritimo de España, then joined an expedition to survey the Magellan Strait and another to map the Azores. He set out with the celebrated explorer Alejandro Malaspina to survey the Spanish Empire. In 1792 King Carlos IV demanded, and Galiano undertook, a search in the Vancouver Strait for a North-west Passage from the west to the east coast of North America and proved that no such passage existed.


In 1794, when Galiano returned to Spain, his country was at war. The atheist republic of France had executed Louis XVI and Catholic Spain fought the French republicans alongside Britain. But defeats on the French border forced the King to sue for peace in 1795. A year later the French made Spain fight again, this time as their allies against Britain. This war brought a Royal Navy blockade to Cadiz: Galiano was ordered to break it and risk a voyage to Veracruz in modern Mexico to bring back much-needed silver to Spain. At the end of 1798 he left Cadiz, evading the watching eyes of the blockading squadron. He returned the following spring with two ships and three frigates loaded with treasure, the sort of target British captains dreamed of. In sailing by an unexpected route out of sight of land, relying on his instruments and calculations, he outwitted the ships sent to intercept him and brought his flotilla of treasure ships into Santoña. The government was so impressed that he was sent off a second time. On this occasion the return journey was safer: the war had ended before he got back.


Somehow James Duff contrived to remain in Cadiz throughout the war, sending out occasional letters, even as the Royal Navy ambushed Cadiz-bound treasure ships, seized the island of Trinidad and won a major sea battle over the Spanish fleet at Cape St Vincent. At this time Cadiz suffered terribly: the constant British presence outside the port annihilated her foreign trade. During these five years the British captured goods to the value of one year’s normal business. The misery ended when hostilities ceased in 1801. Duff and his many Spanish friends celebrated a sudden resurgence of prosperity. But peace did not last long. A new Anglo-French war, declared on 18 May 1803, threatened even graver harm.


Napoleon had forced King Carlos IV into treaties that obliged Spain to fight alongside the French. Desperate to avoid another conflict with Britain, Spain sought to remain neutral. As an alternative to joining the war, the government in Madrid secretly offered a massive subsidy and began a long, tortuous negotiation with Napoleon’s government.


Vice Admiral Horatio Nelson, put in charge of the Mediterranean Fleet, was anxious to discover Spain’s true intentions so renewed an old correspondence with James Duff. The admiral reminded the Consul, whose business life depended on long-established trust, that ‘next January it is twenty-seven years since our first acquaintance’. Nelson had first visited Cadiz in 1777, as an eighteen-year-old acting lieutenant, and had struck up a rapport with the wine merchant. He asked Duff for reports on Spanish naval preparations. But there was little to report in the naval base: the Spanish were genuinely trying to remain neutral and their ships were disarmed. In summer 1803 Duff affirmed that ‘in their arsenals nothing is doing; they are paying off all their Seamen, who are suffered to go to their Homes’. They were making no effort to equip ships and ‘there is a total want of timber in the arsenal, where there is hardly any, but the Country Pine, & in other respects it is but very poorly provided’. Duff conveyed the admiral’s good wishes to his friends among the Spanish officers at Cadiz to try to keep them friendly. In October 1803 he wrote, ‘I am positively assured that the neutrality of Spain is certainly definitively arranged.’


Nelson was convinced. He wrote to one of his own officers: ‘I am clearly of opinion that Spain has no wish to go to War with England, nor can I think that England has any wish to go to War unnecessarily with Spain.’ But other British naval officers liked wars with Spain for the private profit they might bring, and within a year one had brought on a crisis. In September 1804 the Spanish put troops on to their ships in Ferrol to crush a revolt in the inaccessible Basque country. Alexander Cochrane, commanding the British squadron off Ferrol, reported to London that in his opinion the Basque revolt was a pretext for arming the ships ‘too flimsy to go down’. Cochrane was wrong: after his warning the Spanish immediately took their troops off. But on the basis of his mistaken assessment the Admiralty sent orders to detain four Spanish frigates bringing coin from South America to Cadiz.


Admirals William Cornwallis at Brest and Nelson in the Mediterranean were each ordered to dispatch two frigates to do the job. Nelson had the intelligence to imagine how the Spanish captains would react to such a demand. He realised that the only way to avoid bloodshed was to send such an overwhelming force that the Spanish frigates could surrender with no loss of honour. Accordingly, he detached the capable Sir Richard Strachan, in the battleship Donegal with four frigates, to undertake the task. But Nelson’s orders reached him a week too late and the battle had already taken place.


Two frigates from Britain joined two that were already on guard off Cadiz. The Spanish appeared unexpectedly early on 5 October 1804. The result was a disastrous, bloody mess. The Spanish frigates were crowded with the wives, families and belongings of diplomats and naval officers returning home from Montevideo, and were in no condition to fight a battle. But facing an equal number of enemy frigates the Spanish commander refused to surrender. He ran for Cadiz. Their zeal animated by the extraordinary amount of prize money on offer, the British attacked. The Spanish frigate Mercedes caught fire and blew up. The captain, his wife and seven children, with nineteen other Spanish ladies and their families, died. One officer, Diego Alvear, watched with his eldest son from one of the other frigates as his wife and the rest of their children died. Other women and children were killed by British gunfire.


The British government’s behaviour was denounced throughout Europe. And yet, astonishingly, according to the report of Pierre Gourrège, a French captain stranded in Cadiz, the people there still ‘tried to justify the conduct of the English . . . hoping that this attack will not destroy the harmony between the two nations’. One astute young observer, Antonio Alcalá Galiano, son of Dionisio, also saw how the population of Cadiz was torn. ‘The act of piracy . . . filled the Spanish with sorrow and rage,’ he wrote, and yet there were still plenty of people in Cadiz who thought that French ambition, and especially the personal ambition of the man who had recently declared himself Emperor, ‘posed a menacing threat to the independence of Spain’. The pro-French faction in Cadiz called such people Mamelukes.


Both Antonio Galiano’s mother and his uncle Juan were passionate, determined Mamelukes and they loathed Napoleon. They were as shocked by the British attack on the frigates as anyone else, but they also considered the reasons why the British government had complained of the Spanish government’s behaviour and the way its neutrality appeared to aid the French. While they agreed that honour demanded they must fight, they blamed the French for dragging them towards a war that nobody wanted and that they regarded as a calamity. Dionisio Galiano was neither a Mameluke nor a supporter of France. He was too deeply concerned with his scientific studies and his professional life to take much interest in politics. Even so, he was horrified by the attack on the frigates and immediately volunteered for active duty.


In Madrid the balance was tipped and Spain declared war on Britain on 12 December 1804. Two months later James Duff informed Nelson of his impending departure: ‘The War with this Country, has again rendered my continuing in it rather precarious . . . & I believe it will be but for a short time.’ Having contrived to obtain freedom for Nelson’s best intelligence officer, who had collided with a rock off Cadiz during a storm, he asked Nelson to allow some ships belonging to anglophiles in Cadiz to enjoy an undisturbed homeward voyage from Livorno. He expected to have to leave for England in the summer, but he was wrong. It is a sign of how unwilling the Andalucíans were to sever their relations with Britain and of the extent to which he was ‘well loved and highly respected’ in Cadiz that Don Diego Duff remained there and continued to be known to all as the British Consul.


Spain set strict limits on support for her French ally. The Spanish Admiral Federico Gravina, acting as ambassador to France, was forbidden to allow the Spanish fleet to be taken to Brest as it had been in the last war. Gravina’s secret orders stated: ‘It not being in the interests of Spain that her forces should go to Brest, this must be avoided with the double object of not leaving our coasts unprotected and of preventing our allies from succeeding in their much desired landing in England.’ Throughout the campaign leading to the battle of Trafalgar, the Spanish passively opposed any plans to invade Britain. Madrid wished to maintain a balance of power between Spain’s two powerful neighbours, and judged that total victory for Napoleon would be as appalling for Spain as a total defeat.
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His Imperial and Royal Highness Napoleon Bonaparte, Emperor of France and King of Italy, suffered no such confusion of feeling and hoped that 1805 would be the year in which he settled the destiny of the world. To this end he had devised a strategy for the invasion and conquest of Britain. It was breathtaking in its sweep and ambition: he would move fleets around the world with the same aggressive confidence that he moved brigades around a battlefield. But it relied on the Admiralty in London falling for a trick.


Napoleon aimed to draw off a large proportion of the Royal Navy with a powerful feint towards the West Indies before suddenly gathering his resources in the English Channel for an invasion of the south coast of England. In March he had ordered Admiral Villeneuve to put to sea with eleven ships-of-the-line from the French Mediterranean base at Toulon, join up with the Spanish fleet at Cadiz, cross the Atlantic and wait for the arrival of other French squadrons. Nelson had pursued Villeneuve with ten battleships.


In late May Villeneuve’s orders were modified. He was to attack British Caribbean possessions, wait in the islands, then return to Europe, joining up with more ships at Ferrol in northern Spain and at Rochefort and Brest in western France. He was then to sweep into the English Channel with sixty or more ships-of-the-line, enough to give the French army sufficient protection for it to mount a bold Channel crossing before the Royal Navy had time to reposition its forces. Delayed by bad weather and an obstinate British garrison off Martinique, Villeneuve sailed to seize the British islands on 4 June and had the luck to run into a convoy of British merchantmen on the eighth. They told him that Nelson had arrived and was scouring the West Indies for him. Hearing this, Villeneuve decided to head at once for the Channel.


Fortunately for the British, a fast dispatch boat sent by Nelson observed Villeneuve’s fleet as it crossed the Atlantic and reached home in time to warn the Admiralty of the French course late on 8 July. Fearful of waking the irascible First Lord of the Admiralty, his assistants did not give the message to Sir Charles Middleton, Lord Barham, until next morning. He was furious at the delay. Still in his nightshirt, the octogenarian rapidly penned new orders to frustrate the French design. Villeneuve would not, as Napoleon had hoped, get through unopposed.


On 22 July a British force of fifteen ships-of-the-line, under Vice Admiral Sir Robert Calder, intercepted Villeneuve’s twenty off Cape Finisterre at the north-western tip of Spain. In thick fog the ships fought an inconclusive battle, followed by a two-day stand-off in very light winds before they lost sight of each other. Short of provisions, with damaged ships and many sick men, Villeneuve put in to the nearest friendly port, Vigo, just north of the Portuguese border. After a few days he sailed a few miles north to the twin harbours of Corunna and Ferrol, where he joined up with other French and Spanish squadrons.


Villeneuve now had twenty-eight ships in reasonable order. All that remained, in Napoleon’s view, was to sail to Brest, picking up along the way five more ships that had already put to sea from Rochefort, free the twenty-one battleships that were waiting at Brest under British blockade, and head for Boulogne. But, to Napoleon’s fury, Villeneuve remained in Corunna.


In Britain and in the British fleet this was felt to be a moment of great danger. Against the twenty-one enemy ships in Brest, Villeneuve’s twenty-eight, and five more from Rochefort, the British at that moment could gather together only twenty-six. ‘The junction of the Hostile fleet semed to theretan the Endependance of Great Britain,’ wrote Able Seaman James Martin of the Neptune, which had just returned to Plymouth for repairs and provisions. He worried that ‘the British fleet was Dispersed into Diferant Eliments’, reckoning that ‘what few we could Muster at Home was Altogether Incompetent’.


Martin’s next experience cannot have been reassuring. Neptune was ordered to join Sir Robert Calder and blockade Ferrol. But on finding Villeneuve there in force, Calder judged that his eight ships could not keep him penned in, and he decided to join up with Cornwallis’s larger force off Brest. He reached the French port on 13 August. Two days later, to the immense relief of Martin and his shipmates, Nelson arrived from the West Indies with twelve more ships.


Neptune’s captain, Thomas Fremantle, was an old friend of Nelson, having served under him in command of a frigate in the Mediterranean: ‘I put a boat in the water and was the only ship that had communication with him, Proby [Lieutenant Granville Proby] carried him all the newspapers I had and saw him for two minutes, he says lord Nelson looked very ill and his message to me was that he was half dead.’ Nelson sailed for England for a brief rest cure, but he left behind ten ships to help guard the approaches to the Channel.


Calder was then sent back towards Ferrol with eighteen ships, Thomas Fremantle’s Neptune among them, to track down Villeneuve once more. His fleet was almost within sight of the Spanish naval base when on Tuesday, 20 August, ‘a Stainge Sail hove in Sight under a press of Canviss and fired Signal Guns upon witch the fleet Hove two’. It was the frigate Naiad, bringing news. A few days earlier, off Ferrol, she had had a narrow escape from a French fleet that had pretended to be British, using the correct British signal to ask her to identify herself. As she fled, shot from the French frigates had passed overhead. It had to have been Villeneuve. But where had he gone? In fact he had arrived at Cadiz that same morning, 20 August, surprising Collingwood, but no one in Calder’s fleet yet knew this. On board Neptune, Captain Thomas Fremantle, Able Seaman James Martin and their shipmates prepared for action, knowing that if their eighteen ships found Villeneuve’s twenty-eight, the British people expected them to destroy the hostile fleet or die in the attempt.
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Napoleon spent 20 August inspecting his troops in Boulogne and cursing Villeneuve. Everything was ready. The Imperial Guard and the cavalry were with him. In the first wave 1700 specially constructed boats would lift 113,000 men and 5600 horses. A second wave of 590 transports for 48,000 men and 3400 horses would follow. Napoleon was a man who got things done. He believed in the possible. England would be overwhelmed. All that was needed was sufficient battleships to give his barges a few days’ protection. From the coastal hills the Emperor could plainly see England, and the élite of his Armée d’Angleterre was as impatient as he was for the arrival of his fleet. Napoleon had joined his army at the beginning of the month and each day for the last week he had expected to see Villeneuve’s sails on the horizon.


As the Emperor bubbled with anger, Villeneuve sailed into Cadiz. He was at once ashamed that he had not fought his way through to Boulogne and convinced that he had done the right thing. He did not believe that his ships could win an even battle against the British, and he was fearful of what might happen to his seamen in the English Channel. His crews from Provence, Aquitaine, Andalucía and Galicia had little acquaintance with those hazardous waters. Above all, rational calculation told Villeneuve that, with the British now evidently forewarned, it was pointless to persevere with Napoleon’s plan.


At Corunna and Ferrol his anxieties had been quietly reinforced by his Spanish colleague Admiral Federico Gravina, whose secret orders from the Spanish government forbade him to go to Brest or take part in any landing in Great Britain. The Spanish admiral was probably never pushed to the point where he had to reveal his hand and refuse to sail further north, since he was able to present his unwillingness to do so as common sense. Gravina had written to Denis Decrès, Napoleon’s minister of marine, on 3 August, informing him in the most polite and cogent terms that, in his view, the attempt to invade had already been defeated.


That day Villeneuve told Decrès, his old and trusted friend, that if all else failed he would go to Cadiz and join up with the Spanish squadron there. Safe within its fortified harbour he could get his ships repaired and obtain more supplies. On 7 August he wrote to Decrès, ‘I am about to sail, but I don’t know what I shall do.’ He was worried about the eight ships that had appeared off Ferrol. It might be Nelson. ‘They will follow us,’ he told Decrès. ‘I should be sorry to meet twenty of them. Our naval tactics are antiquated. We know nothing but how to place ourselves in line, and that is just what the enemy wants.’


Villeneuve came of ancient chivalric stock – by family right he was a Knight of Malta. He did not relish the ignominy of avoiding combat and he was apprehensive of how the Emperor would react to his behaviour. He was in no way reassured by the presence in his ship of the Emperor’s aide-de-camp, General Jacques-Alexandre Lauriston, who was commanding the expeditionary force of soldiers that Villeneuve had ferried to Martinique and back. Whereas Villeneuve reported to his friend Decrès on the deficiencies of his men, ships and port facilities, Lauriston wrote weekly letters direct to Bonaparte detailing Villeneuve’s excessive caution and lack of enterprise. Lauriston liked to give Villeneuve advice, and Villeneuve, in the true spirit of inter-service collaboration, liked to refuse it with what Lauriston considered a ‘proud bearing and sarcastic aloofness’.


A passing merchant had told them there were only three British ships outside Cadiz, and Napoleon’s aide suggested that Admiral Charles Magon should race ahead with six ships under cover of darkness to surprise them at dawn. But Villeneuve was worried by another report that he was being tailed and he ignored the opportunity. Lauriston told Napoleon that because they had arrived in daylight the English were able to escape. Some fishermen said that had the French arrived earlier in the morning when the wind was southerly the English would not have been able to get away. But Villeneuve had been too cautious to take a risk. ‘In short, Sire, the fear of Nelson prevailed,’ wrote Lauriston. The bolder officers in the fleet were also disgruntled. The pugnacious and enterprising Magon, further provoked by the insolent behaviour of Collingwood’s ships as they outsailed him, was furious at the missed opportunity.


Flags were hoisted in welcome above the miradors of shining white Cadiz, and crowds cheered from the Alameda and the balconies – but the fleet that swept magnificently into the bay was by no means combined, united or happy.





2


The Plum Pudding in Danger
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Vice Admiral Horatio, Lord Nelson had only been back in London for a few days when a foreign tourist accosted him in the street. Andreas Andersen Feldborg was a Danish author who was visiting England to research a travel book. He wanted to show Nelson his previous work, an account of the battle of Copenhagen. In 1801 Nelson had attacked the Danish fleet at anchor in their capital to remove Denmark from the ‘Armed Neutrality of the North’. It was a dangerous enterprise and the battle had been fierce. Through a timely truce, Nelson’s diplomatic abilities had squeezed a victory out of what continued fighting might have turned into a defeat. Fortunately for the British, Nelson could talk as well as he could fight. Cogent, dynamic and persuasive, on paper and in person, Nelson was by far the most charismatic leader that the Royal Navy had ever had. As a result he was world famous, ‘looked up to in all countries’, as Thomas Fremantle put it, ‘a Terror to all Maritime Powers’ in the words of a letter from a would-be servant that awaited him at home.


Nelson invited Feldborg to present him with the book at his home in Merton, then a village a short distance to the south-west of London. The Dane left a vivid account of his visit on 26 August 1805. He arrived by coach, passed the lodge and drove up the thickly planted gravel drive of Merton Place, the impressive red-brick house that Nelson had bought for himself and his mistress Emma, Lady Hamilton, in 1801. As he waited in the lobby Feldborg admired a marble bust of the admiral, paintings and other curiosities, including the lightning conductor from the French flagship Nelson had blown up at the battle of the Nile. Then he was led into a ‘magnificent apartment’ where his eye was drawn to Lady Hamilton in the window-seat, before he located the admiral sitting quietly in full dress uniform immediately beside him at the door. Nelson had made an effort to impress – typical of a man who liked to draw full theatrical effect from everything he did.


As they talked, Feldborg noticed how ‘the penetration of his eye threw a kind of light upon his countenance, which tempered its severity, and rendered his harsh features in some measure agreeable’. Nelson was a slight five foot seven with a prominent nose. He was not handsome, even before his right eye was scarred and his right arm amputated, but he was impressive: ‘His aspect commanded the utmost veneration, especially when he looked upwards. Lord Nelson had not the least pride of rank; he combined with that degree of dignity which a man of quality should have, the most engaging address in his air and appearance.’


Feldborg toured the house to discover that Merton Place itself was a theatre. One of Nelson’s friends, Gilbert Elliot, Lord Minto, had earlier complained that ‘not only the rooms but the whole house, staircase and all, are covered with nothing but pictures of him and her, of all sizes and sorts, and representations of his naval actions, coats of arms, pieces of plate in his honour, the flagstaff of L’Orient, &c’. Minto thought this ‘an excess of vanity which counteracts its own purpose’. Vanity there was, no doubt, but the decoration was appropriate to a house that was more often visited by tourists than by its owner. While Nelson was away, as he usually was, Merton became a national shrine, the home of the country’s leading warrior, its one sure shield against the terrifying Bonaparte.


Nelson was the son of an unremarkable country clergyman from north Norfolk. He was educated at Norwich School and at North Walsham, then joined a warship commanded by his uncle, Maurice Suckling, when he was twelve. In 1777, he passed for lieutenant, illegally young at eighteen, but by then he had already sailed to the Arctic Circle, India, America and the West Indies. He became what was called a ‘post captain’ at twenty, which meant that he might be a rear admiral before he was forty, because promotion to that rank came through seniority rather than distinction.


As was customary, Nelson’s well-placed uncle advanced his early career, but Nelson also quickly distinguished himself. During the French Revolutionary War he impressed first Lord Hood and then Sir John Jervis, the admirals commanding in the Mediterranean, and Jervis made him a commodore, acting independently with a squadron of ships though still only a captain by rank. Nelson’s initial reputation as a warrior hero stemmed from a racy account of the battle of St Vincent in 1797 that he and his friend Edward Berry wrote and published. He then led two daring, though unsuccessful, attacks on Cadiz and Tenerife, reinforcing a reputation for aggression. But it was his destruction of the French fleet in the battle of the Nile in 1798 that made his name. Earl Spencer, then First Lord of the Admiralty, fainted with relief when he heard the news.


After this triumph, which temporarily marooned Napoleon in Egypt and prevented him marching east towards India, Nelson became the foremost celebrity of the age. There were Nelson ribbons, Nelson snuffboxes, Nelson fans, Nelson mugs and jugs. People wore pendants with the motto ‘Nelson For Ever’. A steady stream of prints and colourful coverage in newspapers and magazines further boosted his status as national hero. Emma Hamilton did not have to buy the pots and prints that decorated the sideboards and walls of Merton Place: grateful manufacturers and publishers gave them to her to display, and relieved West and East India merchants presented her with silver plate. The King of England made Nelson Viscount Nelson; the King of Naples made him Duke of Bronte. A thankful Sultan of Turkey gave him the ridiculously oversize chelengk, designed for a turban, that he wore in his hat. It was the highest Turkish award for valour.
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Until he read the London newspapers Nelson had thought that he would be reviled for failing to catch Villeneuve. Instead he was described as the saviour of the West Indies. The city had earlier been thrown into panic by the news that Villeneuve had joined with Admiral Gravina and was heading across the Atlantic. Nelson also learned that the country, or at least the London press, was furious with Sir Robert Calder for not sacrificing his ships to bring on a decisive engagement with Villeneuve and newspapers said that if Nelson had been in command things would have been different.


Meanwhile, the newspapers announced, ‘The movements on the French coast have given rise to the belief that the invasion of England will be attempted immediately.’ According to information received from Paris, ‘immense numbers of troops were marching from all parts of the interior to the ports of the Channel. A formidable army of reserve is collecting at a short distance from the coast. All the General officers who are appointed to command in the intended expedition against England had set out for their respective destinations.’


Invasion fever had been running at a high pitch for months. Bonaparte had threatened to cross the English Channel ever since war broke out in 1803, and by the summer of 1805 everyone in Britain knew that he was poised and ready. The armies of France and her Bavarian and Dutch allies were camped all along the coast from Boulogne to the Scheldt, and each day brought further indications of imminent attack. Napoleon’s men had beaten every force that had ever been sent against them. And if they reached England, who was to know which way local democrats and dissenters might jump, not to mention the Irish? The government had already orchestrated a frantic propaganda effort to keep John Bull behind Church and state and averse to bloodthirsty French revolutionaries. The caricaturist James Gillray was closely briefed by ministers and in May 1803 had created an unforgettable image of a ferocious, unstable Napoleon in Maniac Ravings. Other prints, showing nightmare visions of giant, fortified paddleboats, tunnels under the Channel and fleets of huge balloons, contributed to waves of panic. (In fact, the French had considered and abandoned such outlandish ideas. In September 1803, an American, Robert Fulton, had even offered to build sufficient submarines for Napoleon to blockade the Thames.)


The naval bases at Chatham, Sheerness, Portsmouth and Plymouth were linked to the Admiralty by shutter telegraph, and a chain of beacons was prepared to provide instant alert against invasion. Coastal batteries were placed at strategic sites along the south coast; old castles were manned. A string of ‘Martello towers’ to delay landing forces was approved in August 1805. Romney Marsh was prepared for flooding and plans drawn up for a military canal behind it.


In southern England 385,000 badly armed volunteers were drilling. The London regiments had orders to be ready to march immediately. Eight hundred fishing-boats and river craft of the ‘Sea Fencibles’ guarded the coast, armed with cannon and manned by a further 25,000 volunteers. Newspapers reported that the admiral commanding in the Channel, Lord Keith, ‘has sent away his family from the coast from his belief in the probability of immediate invasion’.


The press, denied any real knowledge of the military situation, spat invective at the ‘Regicide Usurper’ across the Channel. British journalists had no doubt of his intention to invade and expected him to be careless of the cost in French lives of ‘an enterprize that if successful would enable France to defeat every Power in Europe’:


Our prosperity and glory and our opposition to his schemes of universal conquest rankle in his mind and prey upon his heart exciting that deadly enmity which would drown our island in blood! Whenever the day of conflict may come, we hope and trust that it will prove the period of his vanity, fame and power; and that the shores of Britain, bristling with the bayonets of her gallant defenders will gleam, like lightning, destruction on the heads of her presumptuous invaders.


Bluster as newspaper editors might about bristling bayonets, level-headed people knew that the enemy had to be stopped at sea. The best of Britain’s tiny professional army had been wiped out by disease after it had invaded Saint-Domingue (now Haiti) in 1795. What was left would not stop Napoleon’s battle-hardened legions if they got as far as the beaches. Cutting off supplies was no guarantee of success either. Napoleon’s men were notorious for the way they lived off the land. This was why so many were furious that Calder had not fought Villeneuve harder and why, when Calder’s fleet got wind of the Combined Fleet a second time, they prepared themselves for a sacrificial bloodbath.


News that Villeneuve had put to sea from Ferrol and might be approaching the Channel reached the Admiralty on 21 August, the day that Nelson first reported to Lord Barham. He realised that his stay at Merton would be short. Later that day he went from the Admiralty to the Navy Office. Then he tried to do some shopping but ‘the public appearance in the streets of Lord Nelson, who in the short space of five weeks has viewed the four quarters of the Globe, attracted a concourse’.


A nervous population needed a hero and, that week, Nelson was mobbed wherever he went. An American tourist who saw him in the Strand noted that ‘when he enters a shop the door is thronged till he comes out, when the air rings with huzzas and the dark cloud of the populace again moves on and hangs upon his skirts. He is a great favourite with all descriptions of people.’ Lord Minto ‘met Nelson to-day in a mob in Piccadilly, and got hold of his arm, so that I was mobbed too. It is really quite affecting to see the wonder and admiration, and love and respect, of the whole world; and the genuine expression of all these sentiments at once, from gentle and simple, the moment he is seen. It is beyond anything represented in a play or a poem of fame.’
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It is not the most impressive exercise in numerology, but the calculations contained in William Rivers’s commonplace book reveal what many ordinary British sailors thought of Napoleon: that he was the devil – or, if not, then at least one of his closest relations.


Rivers was the master gunner on board Nelson’s flagship Victory, currently docked at Portsmouth while the admiral was being fêted in London. The book that Rivers compiled during these months, still in beautiful condition, is kept at the Royal Naval Museum library in Portsmouth, about two hundred yards from the preserved Victory. It is a jumble of personal reflections, lines of doggerel verse, technical calculations and tables crammed into every available space. Given that Rivers was in charge of all the guns and ammunition on board a flagship, it is not surprising that he filled much of his book with lists of stores, details of the ranges of his guns at different elevations and the penetrative power of shot when combined with varying quantities of gunpowder. Less expected are the pages in which he proves Napoleon’s diabolic nature by mathematics. Rivers awarded a number to each letter of the alphabet, one for A, two for B, conflating I and J as contemporary alphabets often did, then shifting to units of ten once he reached K, so that L counted as twenty, M as thirty, and so on. By this somewhat inelegant method the combined numerical count of the letters in the name ‘Napoleon Buonaparte’ came out at 666, the number of the beast.


Nelson shared his gunner’s view of Napoleon. Very much the son of a conservative clergyman in his view of Church and state, he was an instinctive opponent of rebels, traitors and regicides. He burned to lead the Royal Navy to what he called an ‘annihilating victory’ over the French, thereby destroying any hope that the usurper Napoleon could ever depose a British king.


Nelson’s last appointment on 21 August was with a man of similar opinions, Britain’s prime minister, William Pitt, and two days later the admiral spent several hours closeted again with him and his principal ministers. Since he had come to power in May 1804, Pitt had been trying to persuade the Austrians and Russians to join in a new alliance against France, but he also sponsored less orthodox solutions to the country’s problem. During 1804 French ships had captured a British naval officer called John Wesley Wright who had just landed two royalist agents on a mission to assassinate Bonaparte.


Since such missions invariably failed, Pitt’s main effort went into coaxing Austria into the war. With a threat to his eastern borders, Pitt reasoned, Napoleon would not be able to keep his best troops poised on the Channel coast. However, the latest news of Villeneuve meant that, unless Calder could stop the French admiral, it remained possible that Napoleon might yet be able to launch his invasion before Pitt’s Austro-Russian distractions could take effect. Pitt was anxious for Lord Nelson’s opinion. ‘I am now set up for a Conjuror,’ Nelson wrote to his friend Captain Richard Keats, ‘and God knows they will very soon find out I am far from being one, I was asked my opinion, against my inclination, for if I make one wrong guess the charm will be broken; but this I ventured without any fear, that if Calder got fairly close alongside their twenty-seven or twenty-eight Sail, that by the time the Enemy had beat our Fleet soundly, they would do us no harm this year.’ Nelson expressed every confidence that his colleague would not let Villeneuve get away with his fleet intact a second time, whatever it cost.
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When he had business in town Nelson stayed at Gordon’s Hotel in Albemarle Street about a hundred yards from Hannah Humphrey’s print shop in St James’s Street where James Gillray’s latest work was displayed in the windows. Nelson enjoyed caricature, especially when he or his friends were the subjects: he had once asked his wife to send out to the Mediterranean some of the caricatures made of him after the Nile. One of the prints in the shop window that August 1805 was a masterpiece entitled The Plumb-Pudding in Danger, published earlier in the year. Gillray depicted Pitt and Napoleon seated at table either side of a large plum pudding representing the world. Pitt’s beady eyes watch Napoleon warily, as the Frenchman stabs his fork into George III’s beloved Hanover, and greedily carves off Europe, while he starts to slice off the half of the pudding furthest away from the Frenchman labelled ‘ocean’ with ‘West Indies’ prominent. Great Britain remains on the plate, yet to be carved up. But now it seemed that the Emperor’s fork was poised for another thrust. Gillray’s dispassionate epigraph, ‘“the great Globe itself and all which it inherit”, is too small to satisfy such insatiable appetites’, resonates with the judgement of a recent French economic historian that the Anglo-French conflict parodied by Gillray ‘was the clash of two wills for power and mastery, both almost unlimited’.


Nelson’s victory at Trafalgar has customarily been presented as a battle that saved Britain from invasion and classed with the two other great moments of national salvation: Drake’s defeat of the Spanish Armada in 1588 and the Royal Air Force’s frustration of the Luftwaffe in 1940. But the issue at Trafalgar was broader than that. It was not really a defensive battle but the aggressive climax to the rivalry so vividly portrayed in The Plumb-Pudding. It confirmed the Royal Navy’s unassailable supremacy at sea, allowing Pitt and those who followed him into power to complete the carving of that huge chunk of pudding and put it on Britain’s plate.


For a century Britain and France had been fighting what French historians have called the ‘Second Hundred Years’ War’ and is also known as the ‘Battle of the Atlantic’. Its cause was commercial: competition for trade with North and South America and for the most valuable part of America, the West Indian Islands.


Britain kept a tiny army and a vast navy. In rivalry over trade routes and colonies, this gave her an advantage over France, whose long land borders required a large regular army. As Britannia gradually extended her rule over the waves, it seemed to the French – and also the Spanish – that she was arrogating control of all maritime trade, squeezing out the competition. They tried to protect their existing share, and their strengthened navies gave the British a terrible fright during the American War of Independence (1776–83) when many of the officers who fought at Trafalgar gained their formative experience. The challenge made the British even more determined to assert their dominance and the American war was followed by an arms race as all three nations built up their fleets.


The prize at stake, Atlantic trade, formed Europe’s most vibrant and expansive economic sector. France’s foreign trade increased tenfold between 1716 and 1787, and by the time of her revolution she was doing three-quarters of it with the colony of Saint-Domingue, which was just a part of one West Indian island. The wealth that flowed from the vast West Indian plantations was almost unimaginable. The luxury products of the age grew there: coffee, sugar, cocoa, ginger, cotton, and indigo dye, all tended by African slaves, who were themselves a valuable commodity. In the 1780s the value of Saint-Domingue’s trade – chiefly in sugar and coffee – was equal to that of all the trade of the recently named United States of America. Saint-Domingue traded mainly with Bordeaux, which, like Nantes (France’s rival to Liverpool and Bristol as a slaving port), had booming industrial sectors linked with the colonial trade: sugar refineries, distilleries, tobacco factories, sailmakers, ropemakers and foundries. The Atlantic maritime provinces were soon the most industrialised in France.


The bond between commerce and naval strength was the ‘prime seaman’. Men who earned their living in peacetime sailing big ships long distances to America and back sustained the navies in wartime. The West India trade accounted for two-thirds of large French oceangoing ships and the best 15,000 of France’s 82,000 registered seamen. Lord Rodney argued that the West Indian trade had enabled France to dispute ‘the empire of the ocean’ in the American war, and France’s National Assembly was told in 1790 that if the French lost this trade they could not contest a naval war in the future.


The British rightly identified French success in the West Indies as the main cause of the resurgence of their enemy’s maritime and commercial power. And they were determined to undermine it. When war broke out in 1793, John Bull was already eyeing up the plum pudding, as The Times explained on 8 February:


France is the only power whose maritime force has hitherto been a balance to that of Great Britain and whose commerce has rivalled ours in the two worlds . . . Could England succeed in destroying the naval strength of her rival; could she turn the tide of that rich commerce, which has so often excited her jealousy, in favour of her own country . . . the degree of commercial prosperity to which the three kingdoms [of Great Britain] would then be elevated, would exceed all calculation.


It proved all too easy because after the Revolution the French navy self-destructed. Liberié, fraternité and especially égalité destroyed discipline in the fleet: nobody would take orders. Almost all officers were aristocrats and many were denounced and imprisoned. Some were guillotined; some resigned and retired to private life; some emigrated. Political chaos wrought havoc with naval planning and building programmes.


Britain took advantage of her enemy’s weakness. From seventy line-of-battle ships in 1790, France’s naval strength had declined to forty-seven in 1802. French trade also declined, owing to chaos in the colonies (notably civil war and slave revolts in Saint-Domingue) as well as British domination of the seas. Then Napoleon took power. Order was restored in the navy and morale soared. As soon as the preliminaries of the Peace of Amiens had been signed in October 1801 he began to organise an expedition to stabilise the chaos in Saint-Domingue. It sailed in December. In Napoleon’s expansive imagination this was the first step towards the creation of a new American empire based in Louisiana, the vast province that Spain had just ceded to him. But the French expedition was decimated by disease, and by black rebels covertly aided by Britain and the United States. With a frustrated cry of ‘Damn sugar, damn coffee, damn colonies!’ Napoleon sold Louisiana to the Americans and used the money to finance a different approach to the Atlantic problem: a direct invasion of England.


For the British the equation was still simple. Destroy the French and Spanish navies and Britain could destroy their trade and take it over. Destroy their trade and their navies would never have enough seamen to challenge Britain again. By 1805 they had few ships left. One ‘annihilating victory’ would effectively complete the business.
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As Admiral Nelson showed Feldborg round his house they paused on the staircase ‘the walls of which were adorned with prints of his Lordship’s battles, and other naval engagements; he pointed out to me the Battle of Copenhagen, which was a tolerably correct engraving’. Hanging nearby was a print in which Nelson had taken a personal interest, perhaps because the artist, Thomas Buttersworth, was a former seaman who had been invalided out of the navy. The subject was congenial to the admiral: it showed the twenty-six enemy line-of-battle ships that Nelson had helped to take between 1793 and 1801, and views of the fleet actions in which Nelson had taken part at Genoa, Cape St Vincent, the Nile and Copenhagen.


Nelson himself had supplied Buttersworth with details of the ships and with instructions like ‘The Name of each ship to be wrote between the main & foremast’. He had demanded a different portrait of himself from the one that the artist and publisher had proposed. It is symptomatic of the interest that Nelson took in cultivating his own image and of his determination that people should be made aware of his achievement. But it was also a graphic depiction of how great that achievement had been. The capture of twenty-six battleships was an unprecedented personal contribution to the change in the balance of naval power. If it was necessary to annihilate the enemy’s navies, Nelson was the man to do it.
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Our Incomparable Navy
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An admiral’s work did not end when he reached his home. In his study at Merton Place, Nelson had to deal with correspondence on all subjects. Peers and other great men wrote to congratulate him, to recommend someone for a job, or to ask him to say a word in the right quarter that would advance a favoured person. Those with no peer to recommend them sent begging letters of varying degrees of obsequiousness. Lieutenant Thomas Cole, formerly of Foudroyant, had lost a leg on shore at Martinique: could Nelson recommend him for any employment? James Buffin, carpenter, was stuck on the Medway hulk: could he please be put on an active ship? Charles Dobson of the Barfleur in Cawsand Bay wanted to serve under Nelson anywhere in the world. William Compton of Weymouth, and his wife, Anne, sympathised with the way that Nelson had been foiled in the West Indies by the lies of an American merchant: ‘I fear all Americans are spies for France. I know when abroad I saw all were hostile to this Country, of course all their people would designedly & treachery mislead our fleets by false intelligence!’


A minor painter named Blackberd wrote to ask if Nelson would sit for an oil. William Osborn wondered whether Nelson would help him get his son into Charterhouse School. George Owen, a seaman of Carmarthen, ‘well knowing the great attention your Lordship always paid to the happiness and interest of British seamen’, requested Nelson’s help in getting the share of prize money due to him for service on Nelson’s previous ship, Captain: he did not know the names of the prize agents and had only been paid a small proportion of what was due to him. Elizabeth Clod of Chelsea, widow, whose husband had once served under Nelson, recommended her son William Clod of the Excellent.


P. H. Clay of Aldermanbury sought Nelson’s backing for a new product and sent samples: ‘Since I had the honor of seeing Your Lordship at Merton Messrs. Duke & Co have made waterproof one of our patent jackets & Mo. Stanton one of the Partners in that House will have the honor to lay it before your Lordship & also a Seamans Coat done in the same way.’ Clay knew that if Nelson approved he would make sure his fleet adopted the jackets. The enterprising, if opportunistic, American inventor Robert Fulton had a similar mission: having offered his submarines to Napoleon, he now suggested a secret meeting to demonstrate them as a means of blowing up the enemy fleet in Cadiz.


Between assessing widows’ pleas and the merits of waterproof jackets, Nelson attended meetings in London on fourteen of his twenty-five days at home. It was hardly a holiday, but he did his best to spend some time with his family and friends.


Although he had the love and loyalty of most of those who sailed and fought alongside him, Nelson was not perfect. When he was agitated he would waggle the stump of his missing arm and his officers had learned to keep their heads down when they saw the admiral’s ‘fin’ in motion. His relations with the Admiralty were often turbulent, and some of his senior colleagues detested him: they found him arrogant and vain, dogged in disputes over credit and prize money, and embarrassing in his private life. Many naval wives disapproved strongly of Nelson’s passionate relationship with Lady Hamilton, and of his unkindness to his abandoned wife, Frances.


He had met and married Frances Nisbet in 1787 on the West Indian island of Nevis while he was serving as a captain policing trade with the islands after the American war. Frances was a widow with one son and received a modest income from an uncle. Her fortune turned out to be even smaller than they had hoped, but the real disappointment for Nelson was that she was unable to bear any more children. Fanny was a faithful and dutiful wife, but in the heady atmosphere of war-torn Naples the newly famous Nelson fell passionately in love with another woman, who, in 1801, gave him a daughter; she was christened Horatia.


His lover, Lady Hamilton or Amy Lyon, as she signed the marriage register, or Emma Hart, as she had been known in the art world, was a complex character. Like a number of prominent contemporary women (of whom several were currently rearing children with princes, dukes and politicians), she had come from nowhere on her looks, personality and sexuality.


Born in Cheshire, Emma worked first as a servant and then came to London, possibly to work for the theatrical Linley family. It is likely that she was soon drawn into prostitution or something close to it. By the time she was seventeen she had been taken up then abandoned, pregnant, by Sir Harry Fetherstonhaugh, a profligate aristocrat. Charles Greville, a young man from a noble family, rescued her, and in 1782 introduced her as a promising model to the artist George Romney and also to Sir Joshua Reynolds. Their paintings of Emma as Nature and as A Bacchante were engraved and published by John Raphael Smith, the top mezzotinter, creating an eye-catching comparison that grabbed public attention. Art critics informed the public that the breathtakingly beautiful sitter was Miss Emma Hart. She continued to appear in prints made from Romney’s paintings and was soon the most celebrated female face and figure of her generation.


In 1786 the newspapers revealed that Miss Hart had left for Naples. What had happened says much about the status of low-born attractive women in Georgian society, but also about how far they could rise if they could play the game. Charles Greville had effectively given Emma to his uncle as a present. The uncle, Sir William Hamilton, already celebrated for his collections of classical antiquities, was Britain’s ambassador in Naples. He was sixty, his new mistress only twenty-six, but he fell under her spell and brought her back to London in 1791 to marry her.


On that visit Emma again attracted lively publicity and speculation about her origins. ‘All the world is following her and talking of her,’ wrote Romney, of his former model, while the younger Thomas Lawrence sought a sitting to paint ‘this wonderful woman’ as La Penserosa for the Royal Academy exhibition of 1792. By now she had learned to sing well. Romney reported that at his house Giovanni Gallini, manager of the London opera house, ‘offered her two thousand pounds a year, and two benefits, if she would engage with him, on which Sir William said pleasantly, that he had engaged her for life’. But she was chiefly ‘celebrated for her readiness in assuming the attitudes peculiar to the remains of ancient sculpture, and this imitation she contrives to render highly pleasing in point of grace and expression’. A newspaper announced that she had rejected an offer of £1500 to perform for a season at Covent Garden theatre. Lady Elizabeth Foster marvelled that ‘no Grecian nor Trojan princess could have had a more perfect or more commanding form’, although at dinner Betty Foster was as condescending as other ladies who shared her upbringing: ‘Her conversation, though perfectly good natured and unaffected, was uninteresting, and her pronunciation very vulgar.’


Society satirist ‘Peter Pindar’ (John Wolcot) mocked Sir William in his idiosyncratic style:


O Knight of Naples is it come to pass,


That thou hast left the gods of stone and brass,


To wed a deity of flesh and blood?1


O lock the temple with thy strongest key,


For fear thy deity, a comely she,


Should one day ramble, in a frolic mood.


1 It is really true – the Knight is married to a most beautiful virgin, whom he styles his Grecian. Her attitudes are the most desirable models for young artists.


He concluded his ‘Lyric Epistle to Sir William Hamilton’ with an ominous reminder that Emma might revert to former ways:


Yet should thy Grecian Goddess fly the fane


I think that we may catch her in Hedge-Lane.2


2 The resort of the Cyprian corps [ladies of pleasure], an avenue that opens into Cockspur-street.


Sir William, however, was staunchly confident that he had judged Emma’s character correctly. George III let him know that his marriage would not cost him his job, although Queen Charlotte, with the snobbery of a minor German princess, refused to receive Emma at court.


Nelson first met Emma in Naples two years later, in 1793. It must have been like an encounter with a movie star – by then every famous artist in Europe had painted her. When he got to know her better, in 1798, he was still impressed. ‘I am writing opposite Lady Hamilton, therefore you will not be surprised at the glorious jumble of this letter,’ he wrote to Earl St Vincent. ‘Were your Lordship in my place, I much doubt if you could write so well.’ Both Hamiltons became his close friends and Emma was breathlessly attentive to the new British Hero. Soon they were lovers, with the tacit approval – or, at least, tolerance – of her husband.


Emma was more than just decorative. Nelson believed that it was through her charm and influence over Queen Caroline of Naples that he had obtained secret permission to water his fleet in Syracuse harbour, a vital contribution to his victory at the Nile. After that victory, when George III declined to make Nelson an earl on the ground that he did not have the money to support the dignity, Emma responded, ‘If I was King of England, I would make you the most noble, puissant Duke Nelson, Marquis Nile, Earl Alexandria, Viscount Pyramid, Baron Crocodile, and Prince Victory.’


Emma’s friendship with Queen Caroline and his infatuation with Emma led Nelson to make the darkest decision of his career. In 1799 he allowed the King and Queen of Naples to execute those responsible for a failed revolution in Naples, breaking the promise of a British officer who had accepted their surrender in exchange for safe conduct to France. He was strongly criticised in Parliament for this dishonourable act, and censured in the navy for lingering for a year with the Hamiltons at the Neapolitan court. A young artist called Henry Barker met them at Naples and saw Emma cutting up Nelson’s meat for him: ‘I cannot forget her appearance in the evening – her fine, commanding form dressed in a kind of robe trimmed with roses from her neck to her feet – her beautiful countenance with lovely dark eyes.’ Nelson took the Hamiltons on a long Mediterranean cruise during which his admiral’s quarters were transformed into a floating boudoir. Horatia was conceived on that cruise in 1800.


Once established at Merton Place, Emma’s social status was ambiguous. Some members of high society received her; others preferred not to. However the prim and proper might frown, though, adulterous liaisons were far from unusual: the leader of the Whig Opposition, Charles James Fox, lived openly with a retired lady-of-pleasure, and the Duke of Clarence (later William IV) shared a home at Richmond with his mistress, the former actress Dorothy Jordan, and their children. And, anyway, Emma was not particularly interested in polite society: she was happier with the theatrical set and patrons of art, like the fabulously wealthy bisexual William Beckford, a relation of Hamilton, who was building a Gothic fantasy abbey at Fonthill in Wiltshire.


Emma had been steadily improving Merton, designing a walk that Nelson called ‘the quarterdeck’ leading to a summerhouse known as ‘the poop’. Nelson played up to her sense of the dramatic: ‘You are to be, recollect, Lady Paramount of all the territories and waters of Merton and we are all to be your guests and to obey all lawful commands.’ When she dredged a canal he laughed at the idea of ‘the beautiful Emma rowing a one-armed Admiral in a boat! It will certainly be caricatured.’
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Off Cadiz, Admiral Collingwood tried to summon help before Villeneuve realised that the Royal Navy’s blockade consisted of only three ships-of-the-line, Dreadnought, Colossus and Achille. His only frigate found Mars buying food in Tangiers. Her captain George Duff set off immediately and joined Collingwood next morning. ‘I had luckily got plenty of bullocks for ourselves and the squadron, and as much vegetables as I wanted for myself,’ he wrote to his wife, Sophia, at home in Edinburgh. Then Rear Admiral John Knight arrived in Queen, with other ships from Collingwood’s squadron that he had borrowed for other duties: Charles Tyler’s Tonnant, John Cooke’s Bellerophon and Charles Mansfield’s Minotaur. Collingwood’s little squadron of eight battleships now stood guard over Villeneuve’s forty-odd. In the pretence that they were an advance squadron, they signalled to an imaginary fleet over the horizon to conceal their weakness.


Among this small group, Collingwood seems to have unbent with his captains, all of whom were at least a dozen years younger than himself. He wrote to Charles Tyler to tease him for having been away at the crucial moment of Villeneuve’s arrival: ‘where have you been with your Admiral? . . . I thought you were gone to survey Torency Bay.’ George Duff’s first impression when he met Collingwood in May 1805 was that he was ‘a fine steady good officer’, and on 27 August they dined together in Dreadnought on a turtle that Duff had shot earlier in the day.


Duff was delighted that one of the other captains at Cadiz was John Cooke, an old and close friend. Cooke had enjoyed a successful period as a frigate captain, winning some famous actions against French frigates. Duff had been unlucky in frigates and was hoping for a change of fortune. Before Villeneuve had appeared he had written only half in jest to his wife, ‘I have heard that the Spaniards expect a line-of-battle ship and a frigate home with money; so we must keep a good look out for them. I hope therefore to be able to desire you to look out for a country house, and to order a carriage to be built for us.’


James Morris of Colossus and Charles Tyler were also good friends. In 1798 they had been companions in adversity when each had been separately court martialled off Cadiz for the loss of his ship. Morris had reason to remember the local rocks and weather since his frigate had gone aground under the gun batteries of Rota Point across the bay from the city. Collingwood had been one of the judges at both courts-martial and had seen them both honourably acquitted. Morris was congratulated for getting his crew out and setting fire to his ship while under attack from Spanish batteries and gunboats. Tyler had led a squadron of frigates under Nelson, before commanding a battleship at Copenhagen. Captains liked to hunt in pairs, with someone to watch their back, and old friendships, like those between Tyler and Morris, Duff and Cooke, bred trust.


These captains, all in their forties, were hardened by long experience of fighting at sea. All had taken part as midshipmen or lieutenants in the frustrating battles of the American Revolutionary War and then as young captains in the more successful campaigns since 1793. Richard King, captain of Achille, was only thirty, too young to have taken part in the American war, but he had made several captures as a frigate captain. Command of frigates encouraged independent thought and initiative, qualities that Nelson regarded as desirable in the captain of a line-of-battle ship.


They were not merely fighting men. British officers, like the Spanish, saw themselves as men of the Enlightenment, skilled in mathematics and geometry. They regarded themselves, and were regarded by many contemporaries, as an intellectual elite. They used the best and most up-to-date scientific instruments, in whose manufacture Britain led the world – even Spanish explorers ordered their instruments from London. Not only did they know how to use their instruments, but they tested them and suggested improvements. Collingwood was lucky to have officers as good as these four, but ‘such a very distinguish’d sett of fine fellows’, as Nelson called his officers at Copenhagen, were by no means unusual in what he referred to as ‘our incomparable navy’.


Socially, the officers were of the middle classes. Tyler was the son of an army officer, Morris of a naval captain, Cooke of an admiralty cashier and Duff of a solicitor. Elsewhere in the fleet there were aristocratic captains, and a few, like William Prowse of the frigate Sirius, who had started as able seamen. Entry into the British officer corps did not depend on birth, but progress was accelerated by influential patronage, although conspicuous ability and determined application helped.
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Many, if not most, seamen entered the King’s ships unwillingly. Recent research has shown that conditions on board were nothing like as bad as Victorian reformers liked to portay, and the old mythology of starvation, penury, buggery and the lash needs sharp modification. The Royal Navy was by far the biggest and most efficient industry of its day. Superior food, medicine and hygiene were three of its principal advantages over its rivals, and by the standards of the day its logistical support was first class. But it still had difficulty in attracting enough skilled seamen.


It is true, as is often said, that seamen’s wages did not rise between 1653 and 1797, but between 1665 and 1760 there was practically no inflation. However, by 1805 things had changed: rampant inflation combined with other difficulties to make naval service less attractive than it had been formerly.


The total number of seamen in Britain, including those in the merchant service, was estimated at 136,000: in 1804 Parliament voted for a navy of 100,000 men; and in 1805 120,000. Not all would be seamen and plenty of volunteers were to be found among the adventurous young and the desperate unemployed. But naval captains needed a core crew of prime seamen with ten years’ experience in big ships. There was an inevitable clash with the interests of trade. Unfortunately, the navy could only offer prime seamen a third of the pay they would get in a merchant ship. Moreover, once one was in a King’s ship it was notoriously difficult to get out. The last war had endured for nine years.


Captain James Morris’s ship Colossus was new, launched in April 1803 at Deptford on the Thames. She was not ready for manning until late in the great ‘Hot Press’ of March 1803 when the navy tried to raise 10,000 seamen all at once to add to the 50,000 already serving. Just before Britain declared war, warrants to press men into the navy were issued in great secrecy and so desperate was the need that most of the normal protections and exemptions were suspended. While the population thought it was at peace, armed seamen and marines descended on every ship and tavern in Portsmouth, Plymouth and the London docks. Other ports had been struck before the news spread. It was easily the biggest operation of its kind, unprecedentedly ruthless and unpopular. Around Portsmouth, ‘Every merchant ship in the harbour and at Spithead was stripped of its hands, and all the watermen deemed for His Majesty’s service were carried off. Upwards of six hundred seamen were collected in consequence of the promptitude of the measures adopted.’ The press-gangs tended to seize everyone they could find, then release the non-seamen after examination.


On the Thames the round-up was especially thorough. The American ambassador protested about the number of his country’s citizens who had been taken up by the gangs. Here, there was a problem: men born in America before 1776 or even 1783 might be considered British. But the navy was not choosy about whom it pressed, so long as they were seamen. American seamen sometimes carried papers to prove that they were American, but these were often forged for British seamen who were attempting to avoid service in the Royal Navy, and were not always respected by British captains.


One of the Americans taken was Benjamin Turner, a twenty-one-year-old able seaman from Philadelphia, who was grabbed in Deptford in June 1803. He refused to volunteer, no doubt objecting that he was an American citizen, but the gang rowed him out into the river and put him aboard the Enterprise tender. Another seaman described the experience: ‘Upon getting on board this vessel, we were ordered down in the hold, and the grating was put over us; as well as a guard of marines placed round the hatchway, with their muskets loaded and fixed bayonets, as though we had been culprits of the first degree, or capital convicts. In this place we spent the day and the following night huddled together, for there was not room to sit or stand separate.’


When the hold was full the men were taken to the newly launched Colossus at Woolwich. At that time only a few essential officers, warrant officers and a handful of volunteers were on board. One of the first volunteers was ‘a little black boy’ aged nine, named George Brown – presumably by the first lieutenant since the boy ‘speaks no English’. When the men entered the ship the first lieutenant rated them. Brown was rated ‘boy third class’, but the first lieutenant divided those over eighteen according to appearance and past experience into three kinds: ‘petty and able’, ‘ordinary’ and ‘landsmen’. Each of the petty officers and able seamen was ‘well acquainted with his duty as a seaman’. An ordinary seaman was ‘one who can make himself useful on board, but is not an expert or skilful sailor’. Landsmen usually had no sea experience, but many jobs merely required brute strength to haul on a rope or turn a capstan and some learned enough to become seamen. The minimum requirement for safety and competence was for one-third to be able and petty, one-third ordinary and one-third landsmen.


The ship’s surgeon, Edwin Jones, then inspected the men. He was not impressed by what he saw:


Among these were a few good seamen and some stout healthy young men, chiefly watermen, but the greater part had been picked up by the Police in London. They were in general ill clothed, dirty, emaciated & squalid, consequences to be expected from their habits of life, and their various confinements, both on shore & in the tender, the venereal disease was remarkably prevalent among them . . .


He probably exaggerated: Colossus’s muster book lists only about a dozen convicts delivered to the navy by the ‘civil powers’. They included twenty-one-year-old Frederick Fitzgerald from London and James Crowning from Cork, who was one of the venereal disease cases. There was also James Christing, a thirty-year-old Indian from Bengal, who was eventually invalided out because he couldn’t stand the climate off Brittany. But muster books tended to paint the best picture of their recruits and perhaps some of those labelled ‘prest’ or ‘volunteer’ were vagrant or drunken undesirables taken off the streets by the police. The Hot Press had been at work since 9 March and by June Colossus was getting the dregs. Pressed seamen often sought the first means of escape: John Hunt drowned ‘in attempting to swim from the ship’ as Colossus left Woolwich.


With the ship’s company half complete, Colossus sailed to the Nore. There, the proper complement of 640 men was almost fulfilled when a large number of men were supplied from the receiving ship Zealand. The surgeon commented that ‘we got some very excellent Seamen in this Draft, but a part of it resembled those we had got in the River. I picked out 7 Men who appeared to me to be totally unfit for His Majesty’s service, they were sent to the Hospital ships, surveyed, and immediately invalided.’ Some men tried to feign incapacity in order to be turned away. Jones accepted ‘several Consumptive and infirm Patients whom it had been better to have sent away also, but the Investigation of their Complaints required some time & observation to prevent Imposition – this is the reason why so many were sent to the Hospital on our first arrival at Plymouth’.


Colossus sailed first to neutral Ferrol, to work the men up to reasonable efficiency. Once at sea, the ship proved a healthy one. This was a major concern for the navy since a serious outbreak of disease could disable a ship. For Jones the venereal complaints proved troublesome: ‘a great part of them were with secondary symptoms – many of them of long standing – and hence very inveterate’. He also cured ‘above a hundred slighter cases . . . principally gonorrhoea they required no confinement or excuse from duty’. Scurvy had been a terrible scourge of seamen, but by 1803 the navy had the answer: lemons in the Mediterranean and limes in the West Indies – so long as they could be acquired. On Colossus scurvy ‘appeared pretty commonly during our first cruize, when there was no lemon juice on board to serve out to the whole Ship’s Company – but it was easily subdued and during the last two cruises not a case has appeared, lemon juice having been regularly given’.


An outbreak of fever, when 161 men were listed sick and five died was the single major problem: it broke out after Colossus had taken in the crew of the Magnificent which had hit an uncharted rock and sunk. Jones traced the disease to the overcrowded conditions in damp weather when the lower decks could not be aired. Magnificent’s men had lost their clothes and hammocks and were obliged to sleep on the deck and it was with them that the disease started. It was contained, though, and Colossus remained a healthy ship. By August 1805 Captain James Morris and his officers had transformed its unpromising crew into a fine fighting unit worthy of a powerful vessel that Collingwood regarded as ‘an excellent sailer’.


Charles Tyler’s Tonnant was one of a number of ships that experienced difficulty in getting and retaining enough skilled seamen, even though it was manned at the beginning of the Hot Press. Tonnant was a French eighty-gun ship built at Toulon from Adriatic oak and launched in 1792. She was captured, badly damaged after a fierce defence, at the battle of the Nile. Repairs to her in Plymouth dock were completed in December 1802, and new copper sheathing was fitted to her hull by gangs of punchers and nailers ‘even working in their dinner hours to complete her for commission’. When her new captain, Sir Edward Pellew, saw her, she had ‘a neat stern elegantly finished in light carved work, with G.R. and a crown in the centre of the stern railing under the middle lanthorn, and her head is a bust of Jupiter hurling his thunder, all beautifully executed by Mr. Dickinson and his son, Master Carver to the Dockyard’.


Pellew was a famous Cornish frigate captain whose squadron had taken numerous valuable prizes in the last war. He brought with him to the ship a core of followers who always sailed with him, moving from ship to ship as he did. Other valuable seamen, who might have joined the ship as Pellew’s followers, remained with Tonnant after he left. Three of the lieutenants still in the ship in 1805, Benjamin Clement, Charles Bennett and William Millett, had joined when she was commissioned. The marines, from the Plymouth Division, also joined in March 1803. Many had been born locally and reinforced the West Country character of the crew.
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